Q17 9.9.85 017 NogA

FILED
MAY 22 1985
CLEK, SUPREME COURT

		By	
JOSEPH T. SPILLANE,)	Ch	İ.
)		
Petitioner,)		
)		
v.)	Case No: 66,293	
)	4DCA Case No: 83-2295)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
)		
Respondent.)		
-)		

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DOUGLAS N. DUNCAN Foley, Colton & Duncan, P.A. 406 North Dixie Highway West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 832-1744

Counsel for Petitioner Spillane

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner was the Defendant in the Criminal Division of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, and the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal for the State of Florida. Respondent was the Prosecution in the trial court, and the Appellee in the Appellate Court. In this Brief, the parties will be referred to by Petitioner and Respondent.

In this Brief, the following symbols will be used:

"R" - Record-on-Appeal Fourth DCA Case No: 83-2295

All emphasis in this Brief is supplied, unless stated otherwise.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was charged by Information on January 21, 1982, with "Manslaughter by an Intoxicated Motorist." (R. 969-970).

The Petitioner entered a plea of not guilty, and the case proceeded to trial by jury before the Honorable Richard Burk on October 3, 1983.

Prior to the admission of any testimony at trial, the Respondent moved in limine to prohibit the Petitioner from going into anything about the victim's background, his activities leading up to the accident in question, arguing that such evidence would be irrelevant in that the crime charged, D.W.I. manslaughter, is a strict liability crime. (R. 188-189). The Petitioner objected to such limitation. (R. 200-201). The trial court granted the Respondent's motion in limine, and ordered the Petitioner that no testimony or evidence should be produced as to the victim's activities leading up to and at the time of the accident. (R. 201).

During the jury charge conference, the Respondent requested that the jury be instructed on the alleged lesserincluded offense of vehicular homicide. (R. 810, 883). The Petitioner objected to the giving of vehicular homicide as a lesser-included offense. (R. 813, 863, 891). The Petitioner argued that vehicular homicide was not a lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter in that vehicular homicide

-2 -

requires proof of a defendant driver's reckless operation of a motor vehicle, and that such reckless operation was the proximate cause of the victim's death, neither elements which are required for the greater offense of D.W.I. manslaughter. (R. 810). The Petitioner also objected to the giving of vehicular homicide as a lesser-included offense due to the rulings of the trial court precluding him from introducing any evidence of the actions of the victim immediately prior to his death. (R. 811).

Over the Petitioner's objections, the jury was subsequently instructed by the trial court that the lesserincluded crime included in the definition of manslaughter by intoxicated motorist is vehicular homicide. (R. 909). The jury was also given a verdict form for vehicular homicide, indicating that such offense was a "lesser-included offense as contained in the Information." (R. 919).

After the jury adjourned to begin their deliberations, the Petitioner renewed all of this objections to the instruction on the lesser-included offense of vehicular homicide. (R. 921).

On October 7, 1983, the jury found the Petitioner guilty of what they had been instructed was a lesser-included offense, vehicular homicide. (R. 930).

On November 9, 1983, the Petitioner was sentenced under sentencing guidelines to probation for a period of five (5) years, with the special condition of probation that the

-3-

Petitioner first serve 364 days in the Palm Beach County Jail. (R. 963-964).

ThePetitioner appealed his conviction and sentence for vehicular homicide to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. On appeal, the Petitioner argued that vehicular homicide was not a lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter. In support of his position, the Petitioner relied upon the case of <u>Mastro v. State</u>, 448 So.2d 66 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), for its holding that vehicular homicide is not a necessarily lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter.

On November 7, 1984, the Fourth District Court of Appeal Per Curiam Affirmed the Petitioner's conviction and sentence, but acknowledged that their holding "that vehicular homicide is a lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter" was in conflict with the Second District's Opinion in <u>Mastro v.</u> State, supra.

On December 5, 1984, the Fourth District denied the Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing. The Petitioner thereafter timely filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with this Court, along with his Jurisdictional Brief outlining the express and direct conflict between the instant case and Mastro v. State, supra.

On April 30, 1985, this Court accepted jurisdiction, with Petitioner's Brief on the Merits to be filed on or before May 20, 1985.

-4-

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In that the instant appeal concerns the question of whether or not vehicular homicide is a necessarily lesserincluded offense of D.W.I. manslaughter, and such question can be resolved, as will be demonstrated, by analysis of the statutory elements required for each offense without regard to the particular facts of the individual case, only a brief recitation of the facts will be provided.

Johnathan Thalor and Anthony Ochiuzzo testified that during the early morning hours of December 31, 1981, they were traveling west on Okeechobee Boulevard, in West Palm Beach, Palm Beach County, Florida. (R. 383, 658). As they were approaching the intersection of the I-95 overpass on Okeechobee Boulevard, the two men observed a car, later identified as being driven by the Petitioner, swerving, speeding, and attempting to pass their car. (R. 385, 658). Mr. Thalor testified that as they were traveling west on Okeechobee Boulevard, he observed an individual walking in the emergency lane on Okeechobee Boulevard. (R. 388). As Thalor and Ochiuzzo continued traveling on Okeechobee Boulevard, they observed the Petitioner's car pass their car on the right, and began traveling in the emergency lane on Okeechobee Boulevard. (R. 388-389). About a second later, according to Thalor, he heard a bang, and realized that something had been hit. (R. 388, 658). Thalor pulled his car over, and he and

-5-

Ochiuzzo got out to look for the man that they had observed earlier walking in the emergency lane on Okeechobee Boulevard. (R. 389). They subsequently discovered an individual who looked like he had been hit, and was later identified as Donald Heath. (R. 389, 352). The car that Thalor and Ochiuzzo "heard strike the object" (R. 390), pulled over, and the driver was identified as being the Petitioner. (R. 390-391, 661-662). The Petitioner's car had a broken windshield, (R. 390), and other damage to the front of the car. According to Thalor and Ochiuzzo, the Petitioner appeared and acted drunk. (R. 394, 662, 664).

Law enforcement officers from the West Palm Beach Police Department testified that they responded during the early morning hours of December 31, 1981, to Okeechobee Boulevard and I-95 overpass exit pursuant to a report of an accident. (R. 207, 232, 244-245). The officers spoke with Mr. Thalor and Mr. Ochiuzzo, who also pointed out the Petitioner who had struck Mr. Heath. (R. 522). The Petitioner allegedly advised one of the officers that he had been driving, and that there had been a guy walking in the roadway, but he, the Petitioner, never saw him until it was too late and after he had already struck Mr. Heath. (R. 524). One officer testified that the Petitioner had an odor of alcohol about his person, bloodshot eyes, slurred speech, and difficulty with his balance. (R. 250-251).

-6-

The Petitioner was subsequently arrested, and transported to the West Palm Beach Police Department for booking on the charge of manslaughter, and to have a breathalyzer test administered. (R. 459).

After arriving at the West Palm Beach Police Department, the Petitioner was advised of his constitutional rights per Miranda, and of his implied consent rights as follows:

> I advised him that I was prepared to give him an approved chemical test of his breath for the purpose of determining the alcohol content of his blood. I added, you do not have a legal right to refuse the test. If you do refuse the test, your privileges of operating a motor vehicle will be suspended for three (3) months. I asked him if he understood what I told him; he indicated to me that he did. (R. 463).

At the time the breathalyzer test was administered, the test results revealed that the Petitioner had a blood alcohol reading of .15%. (R. 477).

The Petitioner testified in his own behalf. He testified that on the day in question, he had gone to a local restaurant for dinner after work. While there, he ate a cheeseburger, french fries, cole slaw, and consumed two (2) beers. (R. 751-753). Prior to consuming the two (2) beers, the Petitioner testified that he had not had any alcoholic beverages that day. (R. 753). The Petitioner testified that after he had completed his dinner and he was preparing to leave the restaurant, he saw his boss, who invited him back into the restaurant for a drink. The Petitioner testified that he thereafter consumed approximately one and one-half

-7-

(1-1/2) scotch and waters. (R. 759). The Petitioner testified that he left the restaurant at approximately midnight, (R. 760), and while driving home, all of a sudden something felt like "just caved in on my front hood". (R. 764). The Petitioner testified that after that occurred, he pulled over, and saw a body on the ground. (R. 767). He testified that after seeing the body, and the condition that it was in, he fainted as he could not stand the sight of blood. (R. 767-769). The Petitioner testified that he was not drunk nor impaired the night of the accident. (R. 778).

Ronald Martin testified on behalf of the Petitioner. He testified that he had been with the Petitioner at a restaurant the night of the accident, and while there, the Petitioner had two (2) drinks with him. Mr. Martin testified that the Petitioner left the restaurant around 12:00 midnight, and at that time the Petitioner was not intoxicated. (R. 731, 732, 734).

Father Martin Juroh testified that the Petitioner enjoys a reputation for honesty in the community, and also a reputation for being a sober individual. (R. 722).

-8-

POINT INVOLVED

POINT I

WHETHER VEHICULAR HOMICIDE IS A NECESSARILY LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE (CATEGORY 1) OF D.W.I. MANSLAUGHTER.

.

POINT I

VEHICULAR HOMICIDE IS NOT A NECESSARILY LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF D.W.I. MANSLAUGHTER.

The issue presented herein is whether vehicular homicide is a lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter, particularly a "Category 1, necessarily lesser-included offense" of D.W.I. manslaughter. The First and Second District Courts of Appeal have held that vehicular homicide is not a necessarily lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter. <u>Houser v.</u> <u>State</u>, 456 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); <u>Mastro v. State</u>, 448 So.2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). On the other hand, the Fourth (the instant case) and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have held that vehicular homicide is a necessarily lesserincluded offense of D.W.I. manslaughter. <u>Spillane v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 838 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); <u>Higdon v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).¹

Accordingly, the District Courts of Appeal in the State of Florida are in conflict as to whether or not vehicular homicide is a necessarily lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter, and consequently whether the Schedule of Lesser-Included Offenses adopted by this Honorable Court is correct by designating that vehicular homicide is a neces-

¹ The Fifth District in <u>Higdon v. State</u>, certified the question of whether the Schedule of Lesser-Included Offenses promulgated by this Honorable Court erroneously classifies vehicular homicide as a necessarily lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter as a question of great public importance. The <u>Higdon</u> case is presently pending before this Honorable Court on that question.

sarily lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter.

A review of the applicable Florida case law demonstrates that vehicular homicide is not a "Category 1", necessarily lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter. Accordingly, it was error in the instant case for the trial court to have instructed the jury, over the Petitioner's objections, that vehicular homicide was a lesser-included offense upon which the jury could return a conviction.

The Petitioner was charged in the instant case by Information with D.W.I. manslaughter, which stated:

> JOSEPH THEODORE SPILLANE, in the County of Palm Beach in the State of Florida, on the 31st day of December, in the year of our Lord, one thousand nine hundred eighty-one in the County and State aforesaid, did unlawfully drive or operate a motor vehicle over the highways, streets, thoroughfares of Florida while he was in an intoxicated condition or under the influence of intoxicating liquor to such an extent as to deprive him of full possession of his normal faculties, and further, by virtue of the operation of said motor vehicle and said conditions, said JOSEPH THEODORE SPILLANE did cause the death of a human being, to-wit: Donald Heath, contrary to F.S. \$860.01. (R. 969).

During the jury charge conference, the Respondent requested that the jury be instructed on vehicular homicide, contending that such offense was a lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter. (R. 804, 810, 883). The Petitioner objected to the jury being instructed that vehicular homicide is a lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter. The

-11-

Petitioner argued that D.W.I. manslaughter is a strict liability type crime, requiring no proof of a defendant's reckless operation of a motor vehicle, nor proof of proximate causation between the reckless operation and resulting death of a human being. (R. 810, 813, 863, 891). Furthermore, the Petitioner objected to an instruction on vehicular homicide being submitted to the jury for their consideration as a lesser-included offense in that the trial court had specifically precluded the Petitioner from introducing any evidence of the decedent's own possible negligence contributing to the accident. (R. 201, 811).

The trial court acknowledged that it had precluded the Petitioner from presenting any evidence of the decedent's negligence, which the court further acknowledged would have been relevant and admissible evidence as to the issue of proximate causation in defending against the charge of vehicular homicide. (R. 869, 872). Nonetheless, the trial court overruled the Petitioner's objections, and instructed the jury that vehicular homicide was a lesser-included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter. (R. 891, 909, 918-919).

The jury subsequently found the Petitioner guilty of vehicular homicide. (R. 930).

Turning to the applicable Florida case law, in <u>Brown v.</u> <u>State</u>, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1968), this Honorable Court identified four (4) categories of lesser-included offenses. In

-12-

1981, this Court, in approving new standard jury instructions and the Schedule of Lesser-Included Offenses, renumbered and reduced the <u>Brown</u> categories to two (2):

- Category 1: Offenses necessarily included in the offense charged, which will include some lesser degrees of offenses; and
- Category 2: Offenses which may or may not be included in the offense charged, depending on the accusatory pleading and evidence, which includes all attempts and some lesser degrees of offenses.

In Re: Use by Trial Courts of the Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 431 So.2d 594, 596-597 (Fla. 1981).

In reference to what constitutes a Category 1, "necessarily lesser-included offense", this Court in <u>Brown v.</u>

State, supra, at 382-383, stated:

[T]his Category also stems from Section 919.16, which requires an instruction on "any offense which is necessarily included in the offense charged." The statutory mandate here requires that the lesser offense be necessarily included in the major offense charged by the accusatory pleading. This simply means that the lesser offense must be an essential aspect of the major offense. In other words, the burden of proof of the major crime cannot be discharged without proving the lesser crime as an essential link in the chain of evidence. For example, in order to prove a robbery, the State must necessarily prove a larceny as an essential element of the major offense. This is so because every robbery necessarily includes a larceny. It is legally impossible to prove a robbery without also proving a larceny. (emphasis added).



More recently, this Court has been called upon to define what is a necessarily lesser-included offense for purposes of double jeopardy. In <u>Borges v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1982), this Court rejected the argument that the determination of a lesser-included offense should focus on the "variables of evidentiary proof." Instead, this Court has apparently adopted the "<u>Blockburger</u> test"², which provides that the focus of inquiry is the statutory <u>elements</u> of each offense:

> A less serious offense is included in a more serious one if all the elements required to be proven to establish the former are also required to be proven, along with more to establish the latter. If each offense requires proof of an <u>element</u> that the other does not, the offenses are separate and discrete, and one is not included in the other. <u>Borges v. State, supra, at 1267. See, also, Bell v. State, 437 So.2d 1057, 1058 (Fla. 1983); State v. Baker, 456 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1984).</u>

Therefore, applying the principles set forth in the above cited cases, one must look at and compare the constituent essential elements of each offense and simply ask, "Is is necessary in order to prove D.W.I. manslaughter, that vehicular homicide must <u>necessarily</u> be proved?" The answer is clearly no.

The statutory elements of D.W.I. manslaughter, F.S.

² Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932).

§316.1931(2)(c)³, are:

- (1) Victim is dead;
- (2) the death was caused by the operation of a motor vehicle by the defendant;
- (3) the defendant was intoxicated at the time he operated the motor vehicle.

In <u>Baker v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1979), the most exhaustive analysis of our D.W.I. manslaughter statute, and guide to what elements must be proven to sustain a conviction, this Court held that neither negligence nor proximate causation were elements of D.W.I. manslaughter. This Court held that the statutory language "caused by operation of a motor vehicle by any person intoxicated" does not require the State to establish a causal connection between the intoxication and the death. Specifically, that the State is not required to establish that as a result of the driver's intoxication, a motor vehicle was operated in a faulty fashion with the direct result that a death occurred.

Perhaps Justice Boyd in his dissenting Opinion in <u>Baker</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 21, best summarized the proof requirements of our D.W.I. manslaughter statute:

> The D.W.I. manslaughter statute, as construed by the majority, provides that if a person operates a motor vehicle while intoxicated, and the motor vehicle is involved in a collision resulting in the

³ Effective July 1, 1982, D.W.I. manslaughter was renumbered, and is now transferred from F.S., §860.01(2).

death of another, even if there is no causal connection between the intoxication and the collision, and even if the defendant's actual operation of the vehicle is in no way faulty, he is nevertheless guilty of manslaughter, and can be imprisoned for up to fifteen years.

[Under this law, D.W.I. manslaughter, as construed by the Court today, the following application is possible. An intoxicated person drives an automobile to an intersection and properly stops at a stop light. While there in a stationary position, the vehicle is struck from behind by another automobile due to negligent operation by that driver. The negligent driver dies from injuries received in the collision. The completely passive, non-negligent but intoxicated motorist can be convicted of D.W.I. manslaughter.]

Florida's D.W.I. manslaughter statute is therefore a strict liability crime, for which negligence nor causation is an element required to be established. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 378 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1979).

The statutory elements required for vehicular homicide, F.S., §782.071, are:

- (1) the victim is dead;
- (2) the death was caused by the operation of a motor vehicle by the defendant;
- (3) the defendant operated the motor vehicle in a reckless manner likely to cause the death of or great bodily harm to another person.

In contrast to D.W.I. manslaughter, case law demonstrates that vehicular homicide requires affirmative proof of the defendant driver's reckless operation of a motor vehicle, and that such operation proximately caused the death of another. <u>McCreary v. State</u>, 371 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1979); <u>Palmer v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 500 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); <u>M.C.J.</u> <u>v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 1001 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); <u>JAC v. State</u>, 374 So.2d 606 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), <u>review denied</u>, 383 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 1980).

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