### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH T. SPILLANE,

Petitioner,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

)

CASE NO. 66,293 (4DCA Case No. 83-2295)

SID J. W.

JUN 12 1985

CLERK, SUPREME CAULT

By

Chief Deput Clerk

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32304

ROBERT L. TEITLER Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

#

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

#### ARGUMENT

VEHICULAR HOMICIDE IS A NECESSARILY LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE (CATEGORY 1) OF D.W.I. MANSLAUGHTER.

The issue presented herein is whether vehicular homicide, §782.071 Fla.Stat. (1981), is a necessarily lesser included offense (Category 1) of D.W.I. manslaughter §860.01(2) Fla.Stat. (1981) (now §316.1931(2) Fla.Stat. (1983)).

The Petitioner was charged with Manslaughter by Intoxicated Motorist, in that he:

did unlawfully drive or operate a motor vehicle over the highways, streets or thoroghfares of Florida, while he was in an intoxicated condition or under the influence of intoxicating liquor to such an extent as to deprive him of full possession of his normal faculties, and further, by virtue of the operation of said motor vehicle in said condition said JOSEPH THEODORE SPILLANE did cause the death of a human being, to-wit: DONALD HEATH, contrary to Florida Statute 860.01. (R 969).

Section 860.01(2) <u>Fla.Stat.</u> (1981), D.W.I. Manslaughter, as charged, states:

(2) If, however, damage to property or person of another, other than damage resulting in death of any person, is done by said intoxicated person under the influence of intoxicating liquor to such extent as to deprive him of full possession of his normal faculties, by reason of the operation of any of said vehicles mentioned herein, he shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as provided in

s. 775.082 or s. 775.083, and if the death of any human being be caused by the operation of a motor vehicle by any person while intoxicated, such person shall be deemed guilty of manslaughter, and on conviction be punished as provided by existing law relating to manslaughter. (emphasis added).

A conviction of D.W.I. Manslaughter under §860.01(2) therefore requires direct proof that a death occurred, that the death resulted from operation of a vehicle by the defendant, and that the defendant was intoxicated at the time he operated the vehicle. Baker v. State, 377 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1979).

Pursuant to the Florida Standard Jury Instructions
In Criminal Cases, 1981 Edition, this Court adopted a schedule
of lesser included offenses which specifically lists vehicular
homicide as a Category 1 lesser included offense of D.W.I. Manslaughter.

CHARGED OFFENSES	CATEGORY 1	CATEGORY 2
Driving automobile while intoxicated causing death 860.01(2)	860.01(1) or 316.193 782.071	None

(Standard Instructions, page 272).

The jury in the case at bar was so instructed as to the lesser included offense, vehicular homicide, and subsequently convicted Petitioner of that offense. Section 782.071 Fla.Stat. (1981) defines vehicular homicide as:

"Vehicular homicide" is the killing of a human being by the operation of a motor vehicle by another in a reckless manner likely to cause the death of, or great bodily harm to, another. Vehicular homicide is a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

A conviction under the vehicular homicide statute requires proof of the death of a human being by the operation of a motor vehicle in a reckless manner likely to cause the death of, or great bodily harm to, another. McCreary v. State, 371 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1979).

In the case at bar, Respondent maintains that the trial court properly instructed the jury that vehicular homicide §782.071 was a necessarily lesser included offense of D.W.I. Manslaughter §860.01(2), in accordance with the directives of the Florida Standard Jury Instructions as set forth by this Court. As held by this Court in Matter of Use By Tr. Cts. of Stand.Jury Inst., 431 So.2d 594, 597 (Fla. 1981), "The schedule of lesser included offenses is designed to be as complete a listing as possible for each criminal offense ... this schedule will be an authoritative compilation upon which a trial judge should be able to confidently rely." The trial court herein so relied (R 178-9, 194-5). Further, as held by this Court in Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956, 961 n. 7 (Fla. 1981), the schedule of lesser included offenses "... is presumptively correct and complete, and the Court expects that using the schedule will lessen the confusion surrounding lesser included offenses." The Fifth District Court of Appeal, in Higdon v. State, 465 So. 2d 1309 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), properly accorded deference to this presumption in holding that vehicular homicide was a lesser included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter.

Respondent will now proceed with analysis for the justification of this Court's determination that vehicular homicide should be deemed a Category 1 lesser included offense of D.W.I. Manslaughter. It is evident that vehicular homicide requires that the defendant operate a motor vehicle in a reckless manner and that there be a causal relationship between that recklessness and the victim's death, while, neither reckless operation nor proximate cause is an overt element of the crime of D.W.I. manslaughter. As such, based upon a "strict" Blockburger analysis of the statutory elements of the two offenses, it would seem that vehicular homicide would not be a necessarily lesser included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter. Higdon, supra; see Borges v. State, 415 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1982). But, Respondent maintains that, albeit a strict liability statute, pursuant to §860.01 the operation of an automobile while under the influence of alcohol to the extent as to deprive one of full possession of his normal faculties is a malum in se act, which is per se, and inherently, reckless behavior; and, as such, allows for vehicular homicide to be a necessarily lesser included offense thereto. This inherent element of reck-

Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct 180, 76 L.Ed.2d 306 (1932).

lessness or negligence in \$860.01(2) is evident from analysis of <u>Baker</u>, <u>supra</u>, and other pronouncements of this Court.<sup>2</sup>

In <u>Baker</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court construed the strict liability D.W.I. manslaughter statute by quoting its earlier analysis and pronouncement in <u>Roddenberry v. State</u>, 152 Fla. 197, 11 So.2d 582 (1942):

The primary offense denounced by the statute is the operation of an automobile by an intoxicated person and there are different degrees of punishment which may be meted out to the defendant dependent on the injury resulting to person or property. The most severe is the one which may be imposed where death results but there is no burden upon the state to prove that at the time of the incident the defendant was negligent. That element is established if it be shown that he was not, at the time, in pos-session of his faculties due to the voluntary use of intoxicants.

In view of what was written by

Ingram v. Pettit, 340 So.2d 922, 924 (Fla. 1976) ("We affirmatively hold that the voluntary act of driving 'while intoxicated' evinces, without more, a sufficiently reckless attitude ...[a]s used in this opinion, the term 'intoxicated' is identical to the degree of intoxication required in Section 860.01 ...".).

Filmon v. State, 336 So.2d 586, 590 (Fla. 1976) ("... persons under the influence of alcohol to any considerable degree, though not actually intoxicated, are more apt to be heedless, reckless, and daring than when free from such influence.")

Smith v. City of Gainesville, 93 So.2d 105, 106 (Fla. 1957) ("It would appear to us to be utterly absurd to hold that a man should be allowed to fill his automobile tank with gasoline and his personal tank with alcohol and weave his merry way over the public highways without fear of retribution should disaster ensue, as it so often does. The millions who lawfully use the highways are entitled to protection against the potential tragedy ever lurking, inherent in this type of law breaking." (emphasis added).

the court in <u>Cannon v. State</u>, 91 Fla. 214, 107 So. 360, the negligence occurred at the time the driver, drunken to the extent named in the statute, entered the vehicle and proceeded to operate it and that negligence attached at the time the collision occurred, resulting in the death for which the defendant was placed on trial. It was not necessary to show that there was additional negligence when the collision occurred and no error was committed on the part of the court when he referred in his charges to a "collision" and did not place upon the state the burden of establishing beyond a reasonable doubt that there was some further wrongdoing on the part of the defendant before conviction would be warranted. provision of the statute with reference to the death of a person being "caused" by the operation of the car is the equivalent of stating that death resulted from his misconduct which had its inception at the time he took control of the car and proceeded to operate it while not in possession of his faculties.

Baker, supra at 18-19, citing Roddenberry, supra at 584-85.

This analysis reveals that in §860.01(2) the element of a defendant's negligence <u>is established</u> if it is shown that he was not, at the time, in possession of his faculties due to the voluntary use of intoxicants. Negligence <u>occurs</u> at the time the intoxicated driver enters the vehicle and proceeds to operate it, and that negligence <u>attaches</u> at the time the collusion occurs - it is <u>not</u> necessary to show additional negligence or further wrongdoing on the part of the defendant when

the collision occurs.<sup>3</sup> Baker, supra. The Roddenberry Court further held that the word "caused" in §860.01(2)<sup>4</sup> is the equivalent of stating that the death resulted from the defendant's misconduct which began when he took control and operated the car while not in possession of his faculties. Baker, supra.

Examination of the evidence adduced at trial in the case at bar revealed that the Petitioner consumed two beers (R 753) and one and a half scotch and waters (R 758-759), got into his car, was observed swerving and speeding as he operated it (R 385, 658), he passed a car on the right and began traveling in an emergency lane where he struck the pedestrian victim (R 388-389). Petitioner was thereafter observed by a police officer as having an odor of alcohol about his person, bloodshot eyes, slurred speech, and difficulty with his balance (R . 250-251). At the time the breathalyzer test was administered, the test results revealed Petitioner's blood alcohol content at .15% (R 477). The totality of the circumstances was sufficient to demonstrate that a death occurred from the intoxicated Petitioner's operation of a vehicle in a reckless manner, and, as such, the evidence was sufficient to support the conviction for the lesser included vehicular homicide.<sup>5</sup>

In that regard, the contributory negligence of the victim, that which Petitioner wished to adduce, was irrelevant.

<sup>4 &</sup>quot;... and if the death of any human being be caused by the operation of a motor vehicle by any person while intoxicated ..."

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  In any event, as a category 1 lesser included offense of the

In Baker, supra at 20, this Court recognized that "... the operation of a motor vehicle while intoxicated is a reckless (and therefore culpable) act ...". In doing so, this Court acknowledged that the element of §860.01(2) D.W.I. manslaughter, that the defendant be intoxicated at the time he operated the vehicle, inherently involved the vehicular homicide element that the defendant operated the vehicle in a reckless manner. As such, the recklessness of vehicular homicide is "an essential aspect" of D.W.I. manslaughter. See Brown v. State, 206 So. 2d 377, 281-2 (Fla. 1968). The legislative intent behind §860.01(2) to be a strict liability offense, without requiring proof of negligence, was simply for such legislation to operate as a deterrent to those who create a recognized and serious social problem. Baker, supra. Further, §860.01 reflects malum in se conduct, which is "... inherently and essentially evil ...", 6 and justifies the imposition of strict criminal liability. Baker, supra. Therefore, while recklessness or negligence is not an express element of §860.01(2) to be proven, in order to bolster the statute's deterrent quality, it remains

<sup>(</sup>cont.) charged offense of D.W.I. manslaughter, the jury could have properly exercised its jury pardon power in so convicting Petitioner of vehicular homicide. See Bailey v. State, 224 So.2d 296 (Fla. 1969). As such, the trial court did not err in precluding Petitioner from adducing evidence on the victim's contributory negligence since the charged offense, D.W.I. manslaughter, was a strict liability offense, albeit vehicular homicide was a lesser included offense of which Petitioner could be convicted.

<sup>6</sup> BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 865 (5th ed. 1979).

an acknowledged inherent aspect, or evil, in operating an automobile while intoxicated, and is, as such, an element of both vehicular homicide and D.W.I. manslaughter. The strict liability of D.W.I. manslaughter does not detract the reckless aspects or nature of the offense.

Being that negligence or recklessness is inherent in operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, the required proof in §860.01(2), that the defendant was intoxicated at the time he operated the vehicle, is the same as the required proof in vehicular homicide, that the defendant operated the vehicle in a reckless manner. Albeit based upon a "strict" Blockburger analysis the lesser included argument seems to fail, see Higdon, supra, closer analysis reveals that both vehicular homicide and §860.01(2) D.W.I. manslaughter do require proof of recklessness, because, in proving the D.W.I. manslaughter element that the defendant was intoxicated at the time he operated the vehicle, the prosecution has as well proven the defendant's recklessness. this regard, Borges, supra, is satisfied because the recklessness element of the lesser included offense of vehicular homicide is an inherently proved element of the greater offense of D.W.I. manslaughter. Hence, it is necessary to prove vehicular homicide in order to prove D.W.I. manslaughter; the elements required to be proven to establish vehicular homicide are also required to be proven, along with more, to establish D.W.I. manslaughter. See Borges, supra.

The legislative intent, and public policy, of punish-

ing drunk drivers, is not served by the restrictive interpretation of §860.01(2) and the lesser included offenses thereto as ascribed by the Petitioner and the courts in Mastro v. State, 448 So. 2d 626 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984) and Houser v. State, 456 So. 2d 1265 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). The Respondent maintains that pursuant to this inherent and acknowledged recklessness involved in operating an automobile while intoxicated, Baker, supra at 20, the legislative and judicial response to the problem of drunk drivers certainly requires that vehicular homicide be a lesser included offense to D.W.I. manslaughter; and this response has been fulfilled by this Court's designation of vehicular homicide as such Category 1 lesser included offense. Further, since vehicular homicide is a designated Category 1 lesser included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter, the Petitioner was clearly on notice that vehicular homicide could be a lesser included offense to that which was charged, and he could be so convicted of that offense.

In conclusion, this Court has determined vehicular homicide to be a Category 1 lesser included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter, and both the trial court and Fourth District Court below accordingly accorded deference to that determination. Since this Court's reasons for such determination are not overtly evident in the schedule, or in case law, Respondent has attempted herein to justify that Category 1 designation, and maintains that vehicular homicide is properly a necessarily lesser included offense of D.W.I. manslaughter.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities cited, Respondent respectfully submits that no error was committed by the trial court, and respectfully requests that the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal be affirmed.